CHAPTER 10-3 TEMPERATURE: HEAT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Heat Stress and Heat Resistance	
Heated Habitats	
Sporophyte Stress	
Plant and Cellular Responses	
Biochemical Responses	
Isoprene	
Sugars	
Peroxidase	
Heat Shock Proteins	
Light vs Dark	
Acclimation	
Night Temperature	
Hydration State	
Duration	
Age and Structure	
Reversible Effects	
Decomposition	
Summary	
Acknowledgments	
Literature Cited	

CHAPTER 10-3 TEMPERATURE: HEAT



Figure 1. Condensation of moisture in heated air emerging from geothermal vents at Namakolla, Myvatn, Iceland. Note the green covering of bryophytes that endure this warm, moist environment. Photo by Janice Glime.

Heat Stress and Heat Resistance

Since air temperatures rarely exceed 40°C, it might seem unlikely that bryophytes ever experience the high temperatures often used in experiments. But such levels are not as uncommon as supposed (Larcher 1995). Black mosses on rocks of cliffs and exposed boulders can attain considerable internal heat, and even forest mosses can get hot in sunflecks. When the air temperature is only 20°C, mats of Mnium hornum (Figure 2) can reach 39°C. Sphagnum can reach a temperature 10°C higher than air temperature (Longton 1979) and habitats such as freshly burned soil can reach 65°C (Larsen 1980). Yet mosses are known to suffer injury when the temperature exceeds 40°C (Larcher 1995), and temperatures in the range of 42-51°C are typically lethal (Nörr 1974; Richardson 1981; Meyer & Santarius 1998; Proctor & Pence 2002). Grimmia (probably Schistidium; Figure 3-Figure 4) grown at 38°C produced fewer protonemata and shoots, and more plants turned brown than when grown at 27°C (Keever 1957). Hence, it is of ecological interest to understand the effects of high temperatures on bryophytes.



Figure 2. *Mnium hornum* showing the soft leaves that are exposed to the sun and can reach 39°C when the air temperature is 20°C. Photo by Des Callaghan, with permission.



Figure 3. *Schistidium apocarpum* showing its dark color that absorbs heat and protects from UV damage. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 4. *Schistidium apocarpum* with capsules, showing white awns that help to keep the plants cool and add protection from UV rays. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

Most bryophytes seem to have a heat tolerance of 39-45°C (Scheibmair 1938; Dirckson 1964; Nörr 1974). When they are constantly wet, they have an even lower tolerance for continuous warm temperatures, as for example species of Fontinalis (Figure 5) that lose their vitality and chlorophyll at sustained temperatures of 20°C (Dilks & Proctor 1975; Glime 1987b, c). On the other hand, the warm soil of geothermal areas permits a haven for some species such as Hypnum plumaeforme (Figure 6), which reaches its northernmost limits in Japan in a geothermal area (Iwatsuki & Glime 1983). In such areas, bryophytes dominate on warmer soils due to high root zone temperatures that are lethal to roots of tracheophytes. By living on the surface, bryophytes are subject to cooling effects of the atmosphere while insulating the soil and causing it to retain more geothermal heat (Glime & Iwatsuki 1997). This heated ground is particularly important to the Antarctic bryophyte flora.

We can consider two major types of heat-related environmental parameters. In one case, the environment is characterized by permanently high temperatures, and in the other, the plants are subjected to thermal extremes (Kappen 1981). For those plants surviving constant heat, the mode of survival must be physiological. However, for those that must survive heat stress only occasionally when extremes arrive, the plant adaptations may require some degree of physiological tolerance, coupled with mechanisms for avoiding the heat. For many plants, this latter avoidance

mechanism often involves a dormant life cycle stage that is inactive, permitting it to survive metabolically physiologically. For bryophytes, this could be accomplished by spores or vegetative diaspores that survive underground or on the surface as inactive tissue. This does in fact aid some flood plain species and other ephemerals that disappear for long periods of time and appear only when conditions are suitable. But for the vast majority of bryophytes, their slow growth makes this annual strategy impractical and they more typically survive in a state of desiccation (in dormancy) in which their temperature tolerance is typically much higher (Hearnshaw & Proctor 1982).



Figure 5. *Fontinalis antipyretica*, a cool temperature species that loses its vitality and chlorophyll at sustained temperatures of 20°C. Photo by Andrew Spink, with permission.



Figure 6. *Hypnum plumaeforme* from a geothermal site near Lake Wakoto, Japan. Photo by Janice Glime.

If neither of these strategies is possible, as in wetland bryophytes, their adaptations must include a physiological tolerance to heat, whether it be for short daily periods in summer or for longer duration, or a cooling mechanism. For example, many species of **Sphagnum** (Figure 19-Figure 23) have their optimum temperature for growth at 30-35°C (Li & Glime 1990), whereas most bryophytes have an optimum near 20°C (Dilks & Proctor 1975). The cosmopolitan **Bryum argenteum** (Figure 7) populations, living from the continent of Antarctica through the hot lowland tropics, exhibits heat stress at 30°C, exhibiting its optimum at 22°C day/15°C night (Hedderson & Longton 1999). But air temperature is not indicative of bryophyte temperature, and emergent bryophytes may in fact lower their temperature through evaporative cooling. When that water is no longer available, the bryophyte is approaching a state of desiccation in which it can become dormant.



Figure 7. *Bryum argenteum* with capsules, a cosmopolitan species that exhibits heat stress at 30°C. Photo by Keith Bowman, with permission.

Responses to heat are not immediate in bryophytes. In their study of **Pohlia wahlenbergii** (Figure 8), Sandvik and Heegaard (2003) found that the response to nutrient addition was immediate, but that to temperature was delayed. Likewise, **Fontinalis** (Figure 5) species can continue to look healthy for several weeks at temperatures above 15 and even 20°C in the field, but after prolonged additional exposure in the lab, they lose their green color and cease growing (Glime 1987b). Such behavior permits them to weather the daily fluctuations as well as the daynight differences in their environments and to sustain short periods of hot weather in summer.



Figure 8. *Pohlia wahlenbergii*, a species that responds immediately to nutrient addition, but has a delayed response to temperature. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

Heated Habitats

Tropical areas and geothermal habitats present special constraints on bryophytes due to their persistent high temperatures (see Makinde 1993). One would therefore expect that such bryophytes would possess unique adaptations to permit their survival. However, even tropical bryophytes seem to do poorly above 25°C (Frahm

1990). Such high (but not uncommon) temperatures cause their net assimilation rate to decrease drastically, their respiration rates to rise to high levels, and they fail to reach their compensation point (Frahm 1987).

Bryophytes growing in geothermal areas must be capable of tolerating prolonged high temperatures (Given 1980; Hearnshaw & Proctor 1982). For some, this can be done in a dry state, when heat tolerance is much greater. During periods of rain or dew, evaporative cooling can help maintain a tolerable temperature and permit to photosynthetic activity. Bryum japonense has been found growing at 40°C, Philonotis falcata (Figure 9) and Bryum cyclophyllum (Figure 10) at 38°C (Watanabe 1957), and Campylopus (Figure 11) at 53°C (Glime & Iwatsuki 1994), although the temperature of the actively growing apical region may be much less (e.g. 30°C in Campylopus praemorsus; Kappen & Smith 1980). Although liverworts are often considered intolerant, Volk (1984) demonstrated tolerance up to 80°C dry and 50°C wet in Riccia (Figure Other geothermal taxa, for example Bryum 12). argenteum (Figure 7) (Hedderson & Longton 1999) and Polytrichum (Figure 33) species (Loesch et al. 1983), exhibit a wide latitudinal range, yet exhibit thermal stress at a mere 30°C and 32°C, respectively. One must exercise caution in interpreting temperature data, however, because they may represent only the soil or air temperatures, which can differ significantly from that of the growing tip of the bryophyte.



Figure 9. *Philonotis falcata*, a species that can grow in a geothermal area with a soil surface temperature at 38°C. Photo from Digital Museum, Hiroshima University, with permission.



Figure 10. *Bryum cyclophyllum*, a species that can grow in a geothermal area with a soil surface temperature at 38°C. Photo Janice Glime.



Figure 11. *Campylopus introflexus* with water drops that are typical at geothermal sites. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 12. *Riccia austinii*, representative of a genus in which some members are able to tolerate temperatures up to 80° C dry and 50° C wet. Photo by Janice Glime.

Sporophyte Stress

Little attention has been paid to temperature relationships of the sporophyte. But in desert mosses, this can be a limiting part of the life cycle. And it appears that post-embryonic sporophytes in at least some desert mosses can only develop in the cooler, wetter months (McLetchie & Stark 2006). It is the perennial gametophytes that permit these plants to survive from year to year. In the desert species Microbryum starckeanum (Figure 13), all gametophytes survived temperatures of 35-75°C for 1-3 hours, subsequently producing protonemata and shoot buds in a 35-day recovery period. Some leaves exhibited symptoms of stress at 55°C, including leaf burning and discoloration of shoots. However, sporophyte recovery was poor, with reduction in growth and maturation. No sporophytes reached meiosis after exposure for one hour at 75°C. Furthermore, maternal shoots suffered more than did those that aborted their sporophytes in the 35° and 55°C treatments. These shoots took longer to regenerate through protonemata. The reason for this susceptibility of the sporophyte remains unknown. It might be simply less thermotolerance in the sporophyte, or it might that the gametophyte in some way affects the thermotolerance of the sporophyte.



Figure 13. *Microbryum starckeanum*, a xerophyte for which the sporophyte is more likely to be damaged by heat than is the gametophyte. Photo by Richard Zander, with permission.

Plant and Cellular Responses

Effects of heat stress can include loss of membrane integrity (Liu *et al.* 2003), color change to brown (Keever 1957), shoot damage (Liu *et al.* 2004), and enzyme and pigment destruction (Larcher 1995; Meyer & Santarius 1998; Liu *et al.* 2004). Liu *et al.* (2004) found that *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14) survived well at 35-40°C, exhibiting no cellular damage, but at 45°C both wet and dry moss cells were damaged (Figure 15). They could find no differences with leaf age, as assessed by position on stem.



Figure 14. *Plagiomnium acutum*, a species that tolerates temperatures up to 40°C, but suffers damage at 45°C. Photo by Show Ryu, through Creative Commons.



Figure 15. Cells of *Plagiomnium acutum* following wet heat treatment. Left: 35°C for 8 hours. Right: 45°C for 1 hour. Photos by Yingdi Liu, with permission.

It appears that membrane permeability varies with temperature even within a normal range of daily temperature fluctuations. Liu *et al.* (2003) demonstrated a temporal fluctuation in cell membrane permeability for *Thuidium cymbifolium* (Figure 16) and *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14) submersed in water through a 94-hour period. The permeability tracked the temperature almost perfectly (Figure 17).



Figure 16. *Thuidium cymbifolium* with capsules, a species in which cell membrane permeability tracks the temperature. Photo by Li Zhang, with permission.



Figure 17. Effect of surrounding temperature on the membrane permeability of two mosses. Redrawn from Liu *et al.* 2003.

In a series of studies, Glime (1980, 1982, 1984, 1987a, b, c) and coworkers (Glime & Knoop 1986; Glime & Raeymaekers 1987) have shown that temperature affects rhizoid production, growth, branching, and gametangia formation in several species of the aquatic moss *Fontinalis* (Figure 5; see subchapter on Temperature Effects). And certainly elevational restrictions imply physiological effects that preclude many taxa from growing at higher elevations. These restrictions may even be gender-specific, as in *Macromitrium* (Figure 18), where the dwarf male plants are restricted to lower latitudes and altitudes (below the 6°C January isotherm in Japan), presumably due to low-temperature stress (Une 1985; Une & Yamaguchi 2001).

It appears that even the aquatic moss *Fontinalis antipyretica* (Figure 5) may have physiological races adapted to high temperatures. Long exposures to a high temperature could eliminate all but the hardy, and eventually develop a population that is able to withstand the higher temperatures. Such might seem to be the case for this moss growing in a river with abnormally high temperatures due to heated water from hot springs. But

when Carballeira *et al.* (1998) transplanted the moss from a normal river site (16°C) to the heated river (34°C), there was no notable change in pigment ratio, photosynthetic rate, or respiratory rate after 25 days at the new high temperature. Furthermore, after 2, 4, and 10 days of exposure of mosses from the 16°C river to 30°C, then back to 16°C, these parameters recovered to 50% of their normal values within 10 days. Photosynthesis and respiration both recovered more slowly than did the pigment ratios.



Figure 18. *Macromitrium microstomum*, member of a genus in which at least some species have dwarf males that are more sensitive to cold temperatures than are females. Photo by Janice Glime.

The ability to tolerate heat is important in dispersal and establishment in a new habitat. Whole colonies can regulate their temperature through insulation. But fragments, often the best means of propagation, lack this protection. When fragments (stem pieces) of several species of Sphagnum were air dried at 20°C and a relative humidity of ~60%, they survived up to 14 days without water. Sphagnum fallax (Figure 19) and S. magellanicum (Figure 20) resisted desiccation better than did S. fuscum (Figure 21). As one might expect, desiccation delayed the onset of regeneration, most likely due to the need to repair damaged membranes and recover lost nutrients. Oven drying of for 48 hours at 20°C and above was lethal at all temperatures in S. angustifolium (Figure 22), S. fuscum, S. magellanicum, S. capillifolium (=S. nemoreum; Figure 25), and S. papillosum (Figure 23). Only S. fallax was able to survive up to 30°C.



Figure 19. *Sphagnum fallax*, a species in which fragments can survive up to 14 days at 20°C without water. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 20. *Sphagnum magellanicum*, a species in which fragments can survive up to 14 days at 20°C without water. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 21. *Sphagnum fuscum*, a species whose fragments can survive up to 14 days at 20°C without water, but that does not resist desiccation as well as *S. fallax* and *S. megellanicum*. Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 22. *Sphagnum angustifolium*, a species that dies when dried in an oven at 20°C. Photo by Jan-Peter Frahm, with permission.

Li and Glime (1990), on the other hand, demonstrated an optimum growth temperature of 30-35°C for clumps of *S. magellanicum* (Figure 20) and *S. papillosum* (Figure 23) from the Keweenaw Peninsula of Michigan, USA. Rydin (1984) found no temperature-tolerance differences among *Sphagnum* species from Europe. It is likely that the rate of drying differed among these studies so that moisture state may have contributed to the contrasting results, but geographic races may also have been involved in these distant populations. *Sphagnum fuscum* (Figure 21) responded to summer warming with enhanced length increment (42-62%) and greater biomass increase, while bulk density decreased (Dorrepall *et al.* 2004). Added snow in winter increased the biomass gain by 33%, but growth in length and bulk density did not change significantly. These changes suggest that not only is the health of the plant affected by temperature, but the structure and moisture-holding capacity are altered, potentially having a major impact on the ecosystem.



Figure 23. *Sphagnum papillosum*, a species that dies when dried in an oven at 20°C. Photo by Janice Glime.

Biochemical Responses

The observed variations in responses among bryophyte species undoubtedly also result from biochemical differences. Al-Hasan & coworkers (1989) demonstrated a greater concentration of glycerols in **Bryum bicolor** (Figure 24) incubated at 5°C than in those at 25°C. It appears, from work with the tracheophyte Arabidopsis thaliana, that a reduction in polyunsaturated lipids enhances the thermal stability of the photosynthetic electron transport system (Hugly *et al.* 1989).



Figure 24. **Bryum bicolor** decreases its concentration of glycerols when incubated at 25° C compared to those plants at 5° C. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

Isoprene

More recently, Hanson & coworkers (1999) have suggested that heat tolerance in mosses may be due, at least in part, to the production of isoprene, a mechanism of thermal tolerance that seems to have been lost multiple times among more advanced plants. Although little is known thus far about its universality among bryophytes, we do know that at least some bryophytes produce isoprene in response to high temperatures or high light intensities, at considerable cost in carbon - greatly exceeding 2% at temperatures above 30°C (Harley et al. 1999). These responses suggest that isoprene may have a role in ameliorating the stresses associated with high temperatures, a role consistent with the physiological evidence. On the other hand, isoprene may contribute to human stress, because it plays a major role in the formation of ozone in forested regions (Harley et al. 1999). Isoprene is widespread within the plant kingdom, but it seems to exercise no phylogenetic affinities, is not stored in the leaves, and has no antiherbivory role. Its production in conditions of high light or temperature suggests its protective role in those conditions.

Although isoprene emission is common among mosses and ferns, it is absent in liverworts and hornworts and less predictable among other tracheophytes (Hanson *et al.* 1999). It may be especially useful in certain habitats. Bryophytes growing in the open, such as many *Sphagnum* species, are more likely to suffer from thermal stress. This stress could be particularly important when these mosses, with their lower parts in water, may still be in a hydrated state. *Sphagnum capillifolium* (Figure 25) from a northern Wisconsin, USA, bog is subject to these large temperature fluctuations and enjoys the benefits of isoprene as a means of increasing its thermotolerance (Hanson *et al.* 1999).



Figure 25. *Sphagnum capillifolium*. Photo by Jan-Peter Frahm, with permission.

Sugars

In some temperate mosses, sucrose declines upon exposure to high temperatures, resulting in a decline of cold hardiness (Rütten & Santarius 1992), but its loss seems to imply no apparent advantage for heat hardening.

Peroxidase

Marchantia polymorpha (Figure 26) contains a peroxidase that has been characterized as a glycoprotein that is different from any known tracheophyte peroxidase

(Hirata et al. 2000). Hirata and coworkers demonstrated that it is able to perform oxidative polymerization of lunularin, the liverwort counterpart of ABA. It may play a role in stabilizing the cell membrane during desiccation events. The thallose liverwort Marchantia polymorpha contains a peroxidase that has been characterized as a glycoprotein that is different from any known tracheophyte peroxidase. Little seems to be known about peroxidases in mosses. In Mnium sp. (Figure 2), peroxidase appeared to be relatively stable up to 70°C, but then dropped rapidly as the temperature rose (Bakardjieva et al. 1996). Addition of Ca helped to stabilize the peroxidase at higher temperatures. Zinc ions helped to stabilize its activity at high temperatures but inhibited the activity at lower temperatures. When these responses were compared to those of the fern Polypodium vulgare (Figure 27), zinc had little effect on that plant at 70°C. The stability of peroxidase at relatively high temperatures may help the bryophytes to survive the desiccation occurring as the bryophyte approaches high temperatures.



Figure 26. *Marchantia polymorpha*, a species that produces lunularin that may play a role in stabilizing the cell membrane during desiccation events. Photo by David Holyoak, with permission.



Figure 27. *Polypodium vulgare*, a plant is unresponsive to zinc as a membrane stabilizer at 70°C, unlike the moss *Mnium* sp. Photo by Anneli Salo, through Creative Commons.

Heat Shock Proteins

Early identification of genes and gene function in *Physcomitrella patens* (Figure 28) revealed the presence of at least two heat shock protein genes (Machuka *et al.* 1999). It appears that heat shock proteins were present early among the bryophytes (Waters & Vierling 1999a). *Funaria hygrometrica* (Figure 29) has at least six such small heat shock proteins (Waters & Vierling 1999a, b). Waters and Vierling considered that genes for these cytosolic proteins must have originated at least 450 million years ago, much earlier than genes for phytochromes. Interestingly, the patterns and rates of evolution in *F. hygrometrica* seem different from those of angiosperms. Some, but not all, of the amino acid sequences are the same in both groups.



Figure 28. *Physcomitrella patens* culture where at least two heat shock proteins were revealed. Photo by Anja Martin in Ralf Reski Lab, through Wikimedia Commons.



Figure 29. *Funaria hygrometrica*, a species in which we know at least six small heat shock proteins. Photo by Brian Eversham, with permission.

It appears that these ancient bryophyte heat shock proteins have been largely ignored, at least if Cambridge Scientific Abstracts is a good test. We know from the fungus *Phycomyces blakesleeanus* (Figure 30) that blue light and high heat will induce them in that organism (Rodriguez-Romero & Corrochano 2004). Perhaps light, as well as temperature, also plays a role in the photosynthetic bryophytes. But what is that role?



Figure 30. *Phycomyces blakesleeanus*, a fungal species in which heat shock proteins are induced in blue light and high temperatures. Photo by Phil Bendle, through Creative Commons.

Heat shock proteins help the cells to survive the stress induced on other proteins in the cells (Feder & Hofmann 1999). These authors concluded that all species have heat shock proteins and that their expression is correlated with the natural levels of stress they encounter in their environment. From this, it follows that they also are correlated with resistance to stress.

Basile et al. (2013) found that heat shock proteins induced by atmospheric pollution cause effects similar to those under the stress of heavy metals in the thallose liverwort *Conocephalum conicum* s.l. (Figure 31), including severe alterations to the organelles. The implication is that it is the heat-shock proteins that make this liverwort tolerant of heavy metals. When subjected to stress, newly translated proteins can be unstable. The heat shock proteins serve as chaperones that remain attached to these unstable proteins for an extended period of time (Kültz 2005). This chaperone permits the correct folding of denatured proteins, thus stabilizing them and providing defense against damage or dysfunction. It is this capability that labelled them as stress proteins (Wang et al. 2004). Furthermore, Neumann et al. (1995) concluded that small heat shock proteins protected cells against heavy metal and other stresses by creating a more resistant membrane or improved repair mechanisms.



Figure 31. *Conocephalum conicum s.l.*, a species in which heat shock proteins are produced in response to heavy metal stress. Photo by Robert Klips, with permission.

Saidi *et al.* (2005) have helped us to understand this role. They found that in *Physcomitrella patens* (Figure 28), a temperature of 38°C promoted expression of heat shock genes over three orders of magnitude, whereas at 25°C there was little expression of the promoter genes. This increase in expression permitted the accumulation of GUS (β -glucuronidase) and demonstrated labelled F-actin cytoskeleton in all cell types in all tissues.

In the aquatic moss *Fontinalis antipyretica* (Figure 5), temperatures between 20° and 30°C induced production of heat shock proteins. The mean annual temperature of this moss is ~9.5°C (Rau *et al.* 2007). When subjected to heavy metals, this moss produced heat shock proteins, but these did not correspond to any known proteins.

But how does the cell "sense" that the temperature is increasing? Using *Physcomitrella patens* (Figure 28), Saidi *et al.* (2011) indicated that physiological and biochemical evidence suggest that the primary sensory role may be Ca^{++} ions. The primary sensor seems to relate to the plasma membrane and may result from the fluidity-sensitive Ca^{++} channels in plasma membranes.

Light vs Dark

Light vs dark can affect response to heat, with plants of *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14) in the dark requiring a longer time to exhibit cell damage and death than those in the light, perhaps because of light damage and higher photorespiratory rates at high temperatures (Liu *et al.* 2004).

Acclimation

Evidence on heat acclimation in bryophytes provides conflicting scenarios and clearly more studies are needed. Some studies indicate that bryophytes have little ability to acclimate to near lethal temperatures and that high temperature hardening may be effectively absent. For example, Meyer and Santarius (1998) found only a 1°C increase for membrane thermal stability from short-term acclimation to sublethal temperatures in two genera. *Fontinalis antipyretica* (Figure 5) exposed to a prolonged near-lethal temperature of 30°C exhibited little difference in response between populations previously grown at normal river temperatures and those grown in a river with abnormally high temperatures resulting from hot springs (Carballeira *et al.* 1998).

Both acclimation temperature range and duration influence the acclimation response. Antropova (1974) found that incubation of bryophytes for 72 hours at tolerance temperatures (10 & 20°C) did not influence thermal stability or cold resistance, but that exposure to above optimum temperatures for only 3 hours did increase heat resistance in a behavior similar to that of flowering plants. Glime (1987) found that members of the genus *Fontinalis* (Figure 32) were able to tolerate elevated temperatures (above 15°C) for several weeks, but that after prolonged exposure of months they ceased growth and become yellow.

Based on laboratory studies, there is evidence that at sublethal temperatures acclimation to high temperatures occurs (*e.g. Fontinalis duriaei*, Figure 32, Glime & Acton 1979; Fornwall & Glime 1982; *Polytrichum commune*, Figure 33, Sveinbjörnsson & Oechel 1983), but results are conflicting. Weis *et al.* (1986) found that the thallose

liverworts *Preissia quadrata* (Figure 34), *Conocephalum conicum s.l.* (Figure 31), and *Marchantia polymorpha* (Figure 26) survived mild heat treatment with a reversible depression of photosynthesis. However, more severe heat caused irreversible damage to photosystem II, much as in higher plants. Nevertheless, these thalli did not have any significant increase in thermal stability of their photosynthetic apparatus as a result of exposure to high sublethal temperatures.



Figure 32. *Fontinalis duriaei* in a stream in Japan. Photo by Janice Glime.



Figure 33. *Polytrichum commune*, a species that has demonstrated acclimation to high temperatures. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 34. *Preissia quadrata*, a species that experiences reversible damage at mild heat treatments, but at higher temperatures it is irreversible. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

Contrasting with the delayed response of temperature acclimation in *Pohlia wahlenbergii* (Figure 8) (Sandvik & Heegaard 2003), Antropova (1974) found that exposure of

only 3 hours at temperatures above their optimum increased heat resistance in bryophytes in a manner similar to that of flowering plants, whereas incubation within their optimum range of 10-20°C had no effect. Whereas Carballeira and coworkers (1998) found that when exposed to 30°C *Fontinalis antipyretica* (Figure 5) showed little difference in pigment ratio, photosynthetic rate, or respiration rate between populations previously grown at normal river temperatures and those grown in a river with abnormally high temperatures resulting from hot springs, Glime (1987) found that this species (collected in Houghton, Michigan, USA) became chlorotic after several weeks of exposure to temperatures above 15°C.

Balagurova *et al.* (1996) found that differences in heat resistance among several *Sphagnum* (Figure 19-Figure 23) species was less than that for their cold resistance, but that those differences were correlated. In the case of *Sphagnum*, environmental conditions strongly affected the thermal resistance. Clearly, the causes and mechanisms of response are complex.

Night Temperature

It is interesting that it is nighttime temperature that is the limiting factor for growth of *Sphagnum magellanicum* (Figure 20) in the southern Alps of Italy (Gerdol 1996). It exhibited active growth whenever the night temperature was above 0°C. This is consistent with the concept that IAA is inhibited by light and therefore most growth occurs at night. Long-day photoperiod promoted growth of all *Sphagnum* species [*S. capillifolium* (Figure 25), *S. magellanicum*, and *S. fallax* (Figure 19)] in an earlier study, with induction requiring both short days and low nighttime temperatures (Gerdol 1995).

Gerdol *et al.* (1998) likewise found that low nighttime temperature limited the growth of *Sphagnum capillifolium*, causing a five-fold reduction in growth. A nighttime temperature of 5°C triggers production of red wall pigments, which may contribute to reduced productivity by lowering light intensity reaching the chlorophyll. No degradation of the chlorophyll itself occurred.

Hydration State

The state of hydration is of great importance in the thermal tolerance of bryophytes and their ability to acclimate (Table 1). Dry bryophytes have much greater thermal tolerance than hydrated ones (Figure 35; Figure 42). Alpert (2000) contended that desiccated plants are able to endure temperatures from -272 to 100°C. But hydrated Fontinalis novae-angliae (Figure 36) had at least some stem tissue that survived intermittent boiling for more than one week (Glime & Carr 1974). In the moss Homalothecium lutescens (Figure 37), a decrease in the water content was responsible for an increase in heat tolerance (Dulai et al. 2002). An osmotic treatment of only 30 minutes shifted the lethal temperatures upward. But if the plants were kept in the dark, the curves did not shift upward as the water deficit increased, suggesting that the thermal stability of PS II may occur only in the energized photosynthetic membranes. On the other hand, Li et al. (1999) found that dark respiration decreased as temperature increased (and hydration state decreased) in Herpetineuron toccoae (Figure 38) and Plagiomnium acutum (Figure 14),

perhaps explaining part of the greater heat tolerance of dry mosses.

Table 1. Wet and dry 50% lethal temperatures $(LT_{50} - {}^{\circ}C)$ for various mosses, based on Nörr 1974 and Kappen 1981.

	wet	dry
Hylocomium splendens	43	91
Rhytidiadelphus loreus	42	92
Mnium hornum	44	99
Pleurozium schreberi	42	92
Hypnum cupressiforme	44	102
Dicranum scoparium	45	103
Racomitrium lanuginosum	48	105
Sphagnum capillifolium	46	
mosses	41-51	85-110
liverworts	39-45	70-110



Figure 35. Lethal temperatures for various dry mosses. Based on Lange (1955), using the highest temperature below which most of the mosses first survived for 30 minutes.



Figure 36. *Fontinalis novae-angliae*, a species in which some stem tissues survived being in intermittent boiling for more than one week. Photo by John Parker, with permission.



Figure 37. *Homalothecium lutescens*, a species that becomes more heat tolerant at lower moisture levels. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 38. *Herpetineuron toccoae*, a species in which dark respiration decreases at higher temperatures with lower moisture levels. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

In two Polytrichaceae [*Atrichum undulatum* (Figure 39) and *Polytrichastrum formosum* (Figure 40)], short-term acclimation of hydrated shoots occurred within a few hours and provided a small but significant increase in the stability of the cellular membranes and photosynthetic apparatus (Meyer & Santarius 1998). By contrast, it required several days to deharden the tissues. Contrasting with this minimal resistance of hydrated tissues, the increase of heat tolerance in desiccating tissues was dramatic, with an inverse relationship between hydration and heat tolerance.

As one might expect, water use efficiency (WUE) plays a role in heat tolerance in bryophytes. In the moss *Herpetineuron toccoae* (Figure 38), transpiration usually is lower and water use efficiency higher than that of *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14) in the same habitat (Li *et al.* 1999). This seems to endow *H. toccoae* with a greater capacity for heat tolerance and dry habitats.

Clausen (1964) explored the relationship between temperature and humidity in 20 species of liverworts from a wide range of locations throughout the globe (Figure 42).



Figure 39. *Atrichum undulatum*, a species that is able to acclimate to temperature changes within a few hours. Photo by Brian Eversham, with permission.



Figure 40. *Polytrichastrum formosum*, a species that is able to acclimate to temperature changes within a few hours. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.

A common method of drying mosses in the laboratory for temperature experiments has been to place the plants in a sugar or salt solution until they plasmolyze (Figure 43). This pretreatment induces heat resistance, most likely by suspending cellular metabolism.



Figure 41. *Plagiochila asplenioides*, a species that exhibits plasmolysis when pretreated with a sugar solution and heated to 55°C, but exhibits loss of membrane integrity when pretreated with salt. Photo by Michael Lüth, with permission.



Figure 42. Effects of temperature and state of hydration on 20 leafy liverworts from Europe. Redrawn from Clausen 1964.

Duration

Not only is the actual temperature important, but the duration is also important. Just as we might walk through a hot boiler room unscathed, but be unable to stay for an hour in there without getting sick, bryophytes likewise are able to tolerate short-term bursts of heat as might come from dancing sunflecks. For example, the tropical liverwort *Schistochila commutata* dies at 32°C in water with 12 hours exposure, but survives at 42°C (but not 44°C) with only 1/2 hour exposure (Biebl 1967). The tropical mosses *Homaliodendron flabellatum* (Figure 44) and *Bryum* sp. (Figure 7) tolerate temperatures up to 50°C in water for half an hour, contrasting with the 25°C limit for tropical bryophytes reported by Frahm (1990). Figure 45 demonstrates the effect of time in the moss *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14).



Figure 43. Leaf cells of *Plagiochila asplenioides* (Figure 41) demonstrating the effect of heat on desiccated cells. Left: Cells plasmolyzed, indicating intact membranes, in 2.5 M sugar solution at 55°C for 1.5 minutes. **Right:** Cells after 1.5 minutes at 55°C with no pretreatment in the salt solution. Lack of cell shrinkage upon drying suggests loss of membrane integrity, suggesting that these cells are dead. Photos from Scheibmair 1938.



Figure 44. *Homaliodendron flabellatum*, a species that can tolerate temperatures up to 50°C in water. Photo by Jiang Zhenyu, Mou Shanjie, Xu Zawen, Chen Jianzhi, through Creative Commons.



Figure 45. Effect of time on the lethality of temperature in *Plagiomnium acutum* (Figure 14). n=30. From Liu *et al.* 2004.

Age and Structure

In some cases, age is a factor in temperature tolerance of tissues, as shown for two Plagiomnium species in response to low temperatures, with mature tissues being more tolerant than young or senescent ones (Rütten & Santarius 1992, 1993). Yet there seems to be no effect of age on the lethal high temperature of Plagiomnium acutum (Figure 14) treated wet at 30-60°C for up to 240 minutes (Liu et al. 2004). Known cellular damage of high temperatures on bryophytes mainly includes destruction of the plasma membrane as evidenced by loss of electrolytes (Liu et al 2003), loss of differential permeability, chemical disorganization, and death of cells or tissue (Liu 20044), all factors where one might expect young and old tissues to respond differently. In studying Plagiochila asplenioides (Figure 41), Scheibmair (1938) did indeed find that young leaves survived better than older leaves. The older cells died, protoplasm became deformed, and the membrane and cytoplasm became colored. The young leaves survived up to 53°C for 10 hours, whereas the older leaves died after 6 hours at 48°C.

Although a variety of measures have been used to assess damage in bryophytes, the actual physiological responses of bryophytes to temperature are not well understood. One complication is that optimal temperatures for one aspect of a bryophyte life cycle might be detrimental for another, as shown for example in *Fontinalis* rhizoid production, gametangia formation, growth, and branching (Glime 1984, 1987a, b, c; Glime & Knoop 1986; Glime & Raeymaekers 1987). Chlorophyll content (Miyata Hosokawa 1961; Melick & Seppelt & 1994), photosynthesis (Shimizu et al. 1983), growth, weight, and number of branches (Bengtson et al. 1982; Bakken 1993) are often used as measures of bryophyte health.

It appears that we know almost nothing about the effect of temperature on the development of the sporophyte. Working with desert bryophytes, Stark (personal communication, April 2005) suggested that stress on the gametophyte might trigger the plant to abort its sporophyte, making it difficult to determine independent stress on the sporophyte itself. It appears that once expansion has been initiated, they are very stress tolerant when dry.

HP

Reversible Effects

In thallose liverworts, heat-stress depression of photosynthesis can be reversible (Weis *et al.* 1986). *Preissia quadrata* (Figure 34), *Conocephalum conicum s.l.* (Figure 31), and *Marchantia polymorpha* (Figure 26) all were able to recover from mild heat stress, with the recovery period dependent on the extent of the damage. With severe damage, Photosystem II suffered irreversible damage. Nevertheless, unlike in tracheophytes, treatment with high sublethal temperatures had no significant effect on their heat stability.

Decomposition

Few studies have examined bryophyte decomposition, and many misconceptions occur among ecologists about bryophyte decomposition. It is quite a different thing to be decaying from the bottom up on a live plant than to drop leaves and branches that henceforth decay. By being still connected to living plant tissue, decaying portions of a bryophyte are able to move internal and external constituents upward or outward to living portions. Such movement can be influenced by temperature.

Thormann et al. (2004) compared decomposition between the sedge Carex aquatilis (Figure 46) and the moss Sphagnum fuscum (Figure 21) in the boreal peatlands. They found a 5 to 17-fold decrease in bog Sphagnum fuscum litter decomposition with elevated temperature, whereas decomposition of the sedge litter was either enhanced 2- to 30-fold or was unaffected by elevated temperatures. Fungal decay was favored over bacterial decay in elevated temperature conditions. The fungi were able to use polyphenolic polymers as their carbon source, hence favoring their existence over the bacteria in the peat. Nutrient quality seemed to play a major role, favoring the nutrient-rich litter of sedges (8.0-25.7%) over that of bryophytes (0.2%) at higher temperatures. Hence, increases in temperature may not cause the positive feedback to temperature that has been anticipated for all peatlands. Rather, intermediate and rich fens may cause a positive feedback, but poor fens and bogs may actually cause a negative feedback that reduces the input of carbon to the atmosphere.



Figure 46. *Carex aquatilis*, a species with high nutrient content that decomposes much more rapidly at elevated temperatures than does bog litter (which decreases its decomposition rate). Photo by Max Licher, SW Biodiversity, with online permission.

Summary

Although the air temperature seldom exceeds 40°C, bryophyte temperatures can reach 60-70°C in some circumstances. Most bryophytes have a hydrated tolerance limit of 45°C or less.

Bryophytes can survive the heated periods as spores or other dormant propagules, by becoming dormant (if desiccated), or by physiological adaptations to the elevated temperatures, including desiccation that leads to dormancy. Emergent bryophytes can use evaporative cooling to maintain lower tissue temperatures.

Despite potentially high temperatures, tropical bryophytes typically do poorly above 25° C, due to high respiration rates. Geothermal bryophytes often provide their own insulation, with hot bases but cool growing tips. The record for wet heat tolerance seems to be **Riccia** at 50°C, although **Fontinalis** stem tissue survived more than a week of intermittent boiling. Colors, evaporative cooling, and physical properties can alter the temperature of the growing region of a bryophyte, so air and substrate temperature data may not reflect tissue temperatures.

Heat stress can cause loss of membrane integrity, color changes, shoot damage, enzyme denaturation, pigment destruction, and negative photosynthetic gain. Temperature can promote differential development times for spores, gemmae, rhizoids, branching, growth, gametangia, and sporophyte maturation. Some of these effects are gender specific and may restrict the male and female plants or expression of sexual organs to different elevations or microclimates. **Cryptic species**, **microspecies**, or **physiological races** may exist that are not mirrored by differences in morphology, permitting a species to occupy a wide range of climatic conditions. It appears that heat is may damage bryophytes in the light more than in the dark, perhaps due to energy loss to photorespiration. Nighttime temperatures may be important for some taxa, with minimal temperatures required for growth.

Known biochemical responses to elevated temperatures include an increase in **glycerols**, **isoprenes**, and **heat shock proteins**, whereas **sugars** decrease, but we know little about any of their roles. **Peroxidase** may play a role in stabilizing cell membranes during thermal stress and desiccation, with Ca and Zn contributing to its stabilization at high temperatures.

Many bryophytes seem to lack the ability to acclimate to high temperatures. Nevertheless, heat resistance can increase in as little as three hours of exposure to above-optimum temperatures, but plants may take several days to **deharden**. It appears that some physiological processes such as photosynthesis may acclimate, but that thermal stability does not change as easily. Even *Sphagnum* exhibited more change in its cold resistance than in its heat resistance, but the two acclimations were correlated.

Desiccated bryophytes have far greater thermal tolerance than hydrated ones, with some apparently surviving the entire temperature range from -272 to 100°C. In fact, one mechanism for increased heat tolerance is for the plant to decrease its water content, whether by changing its osmotic relationships or by coincidence with a drying atmosphere. One explanation for this is that dark respiration can decrease in response to increased temperatures and concomitant drying. Duration is important, with short durations being tolerable when longer ones are not. Greater **water use efficiency** seems to endow mosses with a greater heat tolerance, but may not be helpful to thallose liverworts.

Age plays a role in heat tolerance in some species, with mature tissues being the most tolerant, and young and senescent ones being less so. Sporophyte responses are poorly known, but some evidence suggests that heat may cause embryo abortion in some taxa.

Decomposition may be altered differently among bryophytes compared to that of tracheophytes. Elevated temperatures can favor fungal over bacterial decay, promoting the decay of the polyphenolic polymers in bryophyte cell walls. High nutrient litter increases decay more with temperature increases than does bryophyte litter. This results in some habitats losing bryophyte litter more quickly while others lose it more slowly.

Acknowledgments

Literature Cited

- Al-Hasan, R. H., El-Saadawi, W. E., Ali, A. M., and Radwan, S. S. 1989. Arachidonic and eicosapentaeonic acids in lipids of *Bryum bicolor* Dicks. Effects of controlled temperature and illumination. Bryologist 92: 178-182.
- Alpert, P. 2000. The discovery, scope, and puzzle of desiccation tolerance in plants. Plant Ecol. 151: 5-17.
- Antropova, T. A. 1974. Temperature adaptation studies on the cells of some bryophyte species. Tsitologiia 16: 38-42.

- Bakardjieva, N. T., Christova, N., and Christov, K. 1996. Effect of calcium and zinc ions on the sensitivity of peroxidase from mosses (*Mnium* sp.) and ferns (*Polypodium vulgare*) to high temperature. Can. J. Bot. 74: 1665-1670.
- Bakken, S. 1993. Effects of simulated acid rain on the morphology, growth and chlorophyll content of *Hylocomium splendens*. Lindbergia 18: 104-110.
- Balagurova, N., Drozdov, S., and Grabovik, S. 1996. Cold and heat resistance of five species of *Sphagnum*. Ann. Bot. Fenn. 33: 33-37.
- Basile, A., Sorbo, S., Conte, B., Cardi, M., & Esposito, S. 2013. Ultrastructural changes and Heat Shock Proteins 70 induced by atmospheric pollution are similar to the effects observed under in vitro heavy metals stress in *Conocephalum conicum* (Marchantiales -Bryophyta). Environ. Pollut. 182: 209-216.
- Bengtson, C., Folkeson, L., and Goransson, A. 1982. Growth reduction and branching frequency in *Hylocomium splendens* near a foundry emitting copper and zinc. Lindbergia 8: 129-138.
- Biebl, R. 1967. Temperaturresistenz tropischer Urwaldmoose. Flora 157: 25-30.
- Carballeira, A., Diaz, S., Vazquez, M. D., and Lopez, J. 1998. Inertia and resilience in the responses of the aquatic bryophyte *Fontinalis antipyretica* Hedw. to thermal stress. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 34: 343-349.
- Clausen, E. 1964. The tolerance of hepatics to desiccation and temperature. Bryologist 67: 411-417.
- Dilks, T. J. K. and Proctor, M. C. F. 1975. Comparative experiments on temperature responses of bryophytes: Assimilation, respiration and freezing damage. J. Bryol. 8: 317-336.
- Dirckson, A. 1964. Vergleichende Untersuchungen zur Frost-, Hitz- und Austrocknungsresistenz einheimischer Laub- und Lebermoose unter besonderer Beruechsichtigung jahreszeitlicher Veraenderungen. Diss. Goettingen.
- Dorrepall, E., Aerts, R., Cornelissen, J. H., Callaghan, T. V., and Logtestijn, R. S. Van. 2004. Summer warming and increased winter snow cover affect *Sphagnum fuscum* growth, structure and production in a sub-arctic bog. Global Change Biol. 10: 93-104.
- Dulai, S., Horváth, F., Orbán, S., Darkó, É., Csizi, K., and Molnár, I. 2002. Water deficit under continuous light enhances the thermal stability of photosystem II in *Homalothecium lutescens* moss. Acta Biol. Szeged. 46(3-4): 159-160.
- Feder, M. E. and Hofmann, G. E. 1999. Heat-shock proteins, molecular chaperones, and the stress response: Evolutionary and ecological physiology. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 61: 243-282.
- Fornwall, M. D. and Glime, J. M. 1982. Cold and warm-adapted phases in *Fontinalis duriaei* Schimp. as evidenced by net assimilatory and respiratory responses to temperature. Aquat. Bot. 13: 165-177.
- Frahm, J-P. 1987. Which factors control the growth of epiphytic bryophytes in tropical rainforests? Symp. Biol. Hung. 35: 639-648.
- Frahm, J-P. 1990. Bryophyte phytomass in tropical ecosystems. J. Linn. Soc. Bot. 104: 23-33.
- Gerdol, R. 1995. The growth dynamics of *Sphagnum* based on field measurements in a temperate bog and on laboratory cultures. J. Ecol. 83: 431-437.
- Gerdol, R. 1996. The seasonal growth pattern of *Sphagnum magellanicum* Brid. in different microhabitats on a mire in the southern Alps (Italy). Oecol. Mont. 5(1): 13-20.
- Gerdol, R., Bonora, A., Marchesini, R., Gualandri, R., and Pancaldi, S. 1998. Growth response of *Sphagnum*

capillifolium to nighttime temperature and nutrient level: Mechanisms and implications for global change. Arct. Alp. Res. 30: 388-395.

- Given, D. R. 1980. Vegetation on heated soils at Karapiti, central North Island, New Zealand, and its relation to ground temperature. N. Z. J. Bot. 18: 1-13.
- Glime, J. M. 1980. Effects of temperature and flow on rhizoid production in *Fontinalis*. Bryologist 83: 477-485.
- Glime, J. M. 1982. Response of *Fontinalis hypnoides* to seasonal temperature variations. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 53: 181-193.
- Glime, J. M. 1984. Physio-ecological factors relating to reproduction and phenology in *Fontinalis dalecarlica*. Bryologist 87: 17-23.
- Glime, J. M. 1987a. Phytogeographic implications of a *Fontinalis* (Bryopsida) growth model based on temperature and flow conditions for six species. Mem. N. Y. Bot. Garden 45: 154-170.
- Glime, J. M. 1987b. Growth model for *Fontinalis duriaei* based on temperature and flow conditions. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 62: 101-109.
- Glime, J. M. 1987c. Temperature optima of *Fontinalis novae-angliae*: Implications for its distribution. Symp. Biol. Hung. 35: 569-576.
- Glime, J. M. and Acton, D. W. 1979. Temperature effects on assimilation and respiration in the *Fontinalis duriaei* periphyton association. Bryologist 82: 382-392.
- Glime, J. M. and Carr, R. E. 1974. Temperature survival of *Fontinalis novae-angliae* Sull. Bryologist 77: 17-22.
- Glime, J. M. and Iwatsuki, Z. 1994. Geothermal communities of Ponponyama, Hokkaido, Japan. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 75: 133-147.
- Glime, J. M. and Iwatsuki, Z. 1997. Niche partitioning of plant taxa associated with geothermal vents at Wakoto, Hokkaido, Japan. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 82: 123-141.
- Glime, J. M. and Knoop, B. C. 1986. Spore germination and spore development of *Fontinalis squamosa*. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 61: 487-497.
- Glime, J. M. and Raeymaekers, G. 1987. Temperature effects on branch and rhizoid production in six species of *Fontinalis*. J. Bryol. 14: 779-790.
- Hanson, D. T., Swanson, S., Graham, L. E., and Sharkey, T. D. 1999. Evolutionary significance of isoprene emission from mosses. Amer. J. Bot. 86: 634-639.
- Harley, P. C., Monson, R. K., and Lerdau, M. T. 1999. Ecological and evolutionary aspects of isoprene emission from plants. Oecologia 118: 109-123.
- Hearnshaw G. F. and Proctor, M. C. F. 1982. The effect of temperature on the survival of dry bryophytes. New Phytol. 90: 221-228.
- Hedderson, T. and Longton, R. 1999. Morphological and genetic variation in the cosmopolitan moss *Bryum argenteum* Hedw. Bull. Brit. Bryol. Soc. 72: 45-46.
- Hirata, T., Ashida, Y., Mori, H., Yoshinaga, D., and Goad, L. J. 2000. A 37-kDa peroxidase secreted from liverworts in response to chemical stress. Phytochemistry 55: 197-202.
- Hugly, S., Kunst, L., Browse, J., and Somerville, C. 1989. Enhanced thermal tolerance of photosynthesis and altered chloroplast ultrastructure in a mutant of *Arabidopsis* deficient in lipid desaturation. Plant Physiol. 90: 1134-1142.
- Iwatsuki, Z. and Glime, J. M. 1983. Notes on the moss flora of Hokkaido, northern Japan. Proc. Bryol. Soc. Japan 3(8): 136.

- Kappen, L. 1981. Ecological significance of resistance to high temperature. In: Lange, O. L., Nobel, P. S., Osmond, C. B., and Ziegler, H. (eds.). Physiological Plant Ecology I, Springer-Verlag, pp. 439-474.
- Kappen, L. and Smith, C. W. 1980. Heat tolerance of two *Cladonia* species and *Campylopus praemorsus* in a hot steam vent area of Hawaii. Oecologia (Berlin) 47: 184-189.
- Keever, C. 1957. Establishment of *Grimmia laevigata* on bare granite. Ecology 38: 422-429.
- Kültz, D. 2005. Molecular and evolutionary basis of the cellular stress response. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 67: 225-257.
- Lange, O. L. 1955. Untersuchungen über die Hitzeresistenz der Moose in Beziehung zu ihrer Verbreitung. I. Die Resistenz stark ausgetrockneter Moose. Flora Allg. Bot. Zeit. 142: 381-399.
- Larcher, W. 1995. Physiological Plant Ecology, 3rd ed. Springer, New York.
- Larsen, J. A. 1980. The Boreal Ecosystem. Academic Press, New York, 500 pp.
- Li, J., Liu, Y., Cao, T., Wu, Y., and Shi, J. 1999. A comparative study on ecophysiological characteristics of the two overwintering host mosses of gallaphids. Nova Hedw. 68: 233-240.
- Li, Y. and Glime, J. M. 1990. Growth and nutrient ecology of two *Sphagnum* species. Hikobia 10: 445-451.
- Liu, Y., Cao, T., and Glime, J. M. 2003. The changes of membrane permeability of mosses under high temperature stress. Bryologist 106: 53-60.
- Liu, Y., Li, Z.-Y., Cao, T., and Glime, J. M. 2004. The influences of high temperature stress on cell damage and shoot survival rates of *Plagiomnium acutum*. J. Bryol. 26: 265-271.
- Longton, R. E. 1979. Climatic adaptation of bryophytes in relation to systematics. In: Bryophyte Systematics. Systematics Association Special Vol. No. 14, Academic Press, New York, pp. 511-531.
- Machuka, J., Bashiardes, S., Ruben, E., Spooner, K., Cuming, A., Knight, C., and Cove, D. 1999. Sequence analysis of expressed sequence tags from an ABA-treated cDNA library identifies stress response genes in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. Plant Cell Physiol. 40: 378-387.
- Makinde, A. M. 1993. Thermotolerance of selected mosses of south-western Nigeria savanna. Nigerian J Bot. 6: 21–25.
- McLetchie, D. N. and Stark, L. R. 2006. Sporophyte and gametophyte generations differ in responses to thermotolerance in the moss *Microbryum*. Ann. Bot. 97: 505-511.
- Melick, D. R. and Seppelt, R. D. 1992. Loss of soluble carbohydrates and changes in freezing point of Antarctic bryophytes after leaching and repeated freeze-thaw cycles. Antarct. Sci. 4: 399-404.
- Meyer, H. and Santarius, K. A. 1998. Short-term thermal acclimation and heat tolerance of gametophytes of mosses. Oecologia 115: 1-8.
- Miyata, I. and Hosokawa, T. 1961. Seasonal variations of the photosynthetic efficiency and chlorophyll content of epiphytic mosses. Ecology 42: 766-775.
- Nörr, M. 1974. Hitzeresistenz bei Moosen. [Heat resistance of mosses.]. Flora 163: 388-397.
- Proctor, M. C. F. and Pence, V. C. 2002. Vegetative tissues: bryophytes, vascular 'resurrection plants' and vegetative propagules. In: Pritchard, H. & Black, M. (eds.). Desiccation and Plant Survival. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, pp. 207-237.

- Rau, S., Miersch, J., Neumann, D., Weber, E., and Krauss, G. J. 2007. Biochemical responses of the aquatic moss *Fontinalis antipyretica* to Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn determined by chlorophyll fluorescence and protein levels. Environ. Exper. Bot. 59: 299-306.
- Richardson, D. H. S. 1981. The Biology of Mosses. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London.
- Rodriguez-Romero, J. and Corrochano, L. M. 2004. The gene for the heat-shock protein HSP100 is induced by blue light and heat-shock in the fungus *Phycomyces blakesleeanus*. Curr. Gen. 46: 295-303.
- Rydin, H. 1984. Some factors affecting temperature in *Sphagnum* vegetation: An experimental analysis. Cryptog. Bryol. Lichénol. 5: 361-372.
- Sagot, C. and Rochefort, L. 1996. Tolerance des sphaignes a la dessiccation. [Tolerance of *Sphagnum* to desiccation.]. Cryptog. Bryol. Lichénol. 17: 171-183.
- Saidi, Y., Finka, A., Chakhporanian, M., Zryd, J. P., Schaefer, D. G., and Goloubinoff, P. 2005. Controlled expression of recombinant proteins in *Physcomitrella patens* by a conditional heat-shock promoter: A tool for plant research and biotechnology. Plant Molec. Biol. 59: 697-711.
- Saidi, Y., Finka, A., and Goloubinoff, P. 2011. Heat perception and signalling in plants: A tortuous path to thermotolerance. New Phytol. 190: 556-565.
- Sandvik, S. M. and Heegaard, E. 2003. Effects of simulated environmental changes on growth and growth form in a late snowbed population of *Pohlia wahlenbergii* (Web. et Mohr) Andr. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 35: 341-348.
- Scheibmair, G. 1938. Hitzeresistenz-studien an Moos-zellen. Protoplasma 29: 394-424.
- Shimizu, H., Takeuchi, Y., and Totsuka, T. 1983. Growth and photosynthesis of a moss *Plagiomnium maximoviczii* (Lindb.) Kop. – effects of temperature. Proc. Bryol. Soc. Japan 3: 141-142.
- Sveinbjörnsson, B. and Oechel, W. C. 1983. The effect of temperature preconditioning on the temperature sensitivity of net CO₂ flux in geographically diverse populations of the moss *Polytrichum commune*. Ecology 64: 1100-1108.
- Thormann, M. N., Bayley, S. E., and Currah, R. 2004. Microcosm tests of the effects of temperature and microbial species number on the decomposition of *Carex aquatilis* and *Sphagnum fuscum* litter from southern boreal peatlands. Can. J. Microbiol. 50: 793-802.
- Une, K. 1985. Geographical distribution of male and female plants in species of *Macromitrium* Brid. (Musci: Orthotrichaceae) in Japan. J. Hattori Bot. Lab. 59: 515-521.
- Une, K. and Yamaguchi, T. 2001. Male plants of the Japanese species of *Leucobryum* Hampe (Leucobryaceae, Musci). Hikobia 13: 579-590.
- Volk, O. H. 1984. Beitraege zur Kenntnis der Marchantiales in Suedwest-Afrika /Namibia. IV. Zur Biologie einiger Hepaticae mit besonderer Beruecksichtigung der Gattung *Riccia*. [Contribution to the knowledge of the Marchantiales in Southwest Africa/Namibia. IV. The biology of some Hepaticae with particular consideration of the genus *Riccia*.]. Nova Hedw. 39: 117-144.
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., Shoseyov, O., and Altman, A. 2004. Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. Trends Plant Sci. 9: 244-252
- Watanabe, R. 1957. On some mosses growing in hotspring water. Misc. Bryol. Lichenol. 13: 2.
- Waters, E. R. and Vierling, E. 1999a. The diversification of plant cytosolic small heat shock proteins preceded the divergence of mosses. Molec. Biol. Evol. 16: 127-139.

- Waters, E. R. and Vierling, E. 1999b. Chloroplast small heat shock proteins: Evidence for atypical evolution of an organelle-localized protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96: 14394-14399.
- Weis, E., Wamper, D., and Santarius, K. A. 1986. Heat sensitivity and thermal adaptation of photosynthesis in liverwort thalli. Oecologia 69: 134-139.